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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: (In progress...)

          3  Promotion exams are required for the three lower

          4  levels of Correction employees, officers, captains

          5  and assistant deputy wardens. These exams test the

          6  candidate's knowledge of the information relevant to

          7  a position such as rules and regulations of the

          8  Department, laws, consent decrees and ethics.

          9                 Successful completion of these exams

         10  does not guarantee promotion, rather the Department

         11  is only required to hire one in three people who

         12  pass the exam, and considers other factors, such as

         13  a candidate's record and attendance. No such Civil

         14  Service exam is required for promotions to Deputy

         15  Warden. Instead, such promotions are entirely within

         16  the discretion of the Commissioner of Correction.

         17                 In contrast, Correction exams are

         18  required for the similar rank in the Police and Fire

         19  Departments. I am unclear why a Civil Service exam

         20  would be a good idea for certain positions in the

         21  police and Fire Department, but not a good idea for

         22  an apparently analogous position in the Department

         23  of Correction.

         24                 I look forward to hearing today from

         25  the Administration and Correction Union about these
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          2  and other issues related to Intro. 330.

          3                 Today I'm joined by my Counsel

          4  Russell Ungar, as well as my Legislative Director

          5  Sarah Martin, and we'll be joined shortly by other

          6  members of this Committee.

          7                 I'd like to call at this time the

          8  Commissioner for the Department of Citywide

          9  Administration, Commissioner Martha Hirst.

         10                 When the light is off, the microphone

         11  is on, and I'd like to welcome you this morning,

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Thank you, and

         14  good morning, Chairperson Clarke, members of your

         15  staff and other members of the Fire and Criminal

         16  Justice Services Committee who may join us.

         17                 I am Martha Hirst, Commissioner of

         18  the Department of Citywide Administrative Services.

         19  I'm joined by my colleagues, to my right, General

         20  Counsel and Deputy Commissioner of Legal Services,

         21  Lewis Finkleman, and to my left, Deputy Commissioner

         22  for Citywide Personnel Services, Joseph DeMarco, as

         23  well as several other members of our staff who are

         24  experts in this area.

         25                 Intro. 330 would amend the
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          2  Administrative Code of the City of New York to

          3  require that appointments from Assistant Deputy

          4  Warden to Deputy Warden in the Department of

          5  Correction only be permitted after promotional exam.

          6                 For many years, individuals appointed

          7  to Correction Officer have had the opportunity to

          8  take a promotional exam for the title of Correction

          9  Captain. Since 1979, Correction Captains, in turn,

         10  may take a promotional exam to the title of Warden.

         11                 Once an individual has been promoted

         12  to the title of Warden, that individual can be

         13  assigned to one of four assignment levels.

         14                 The current job specification for

         15  Warden provides that Wardens perform responsible

         16  administrative or supervisory Correction work of

         17  varying degrees of difficult and with varying

         18  degrees of latitude for independent initiatives and

         19  judgment.

         20                 In short, these levels do not

         21  represent new positions with new tasks and new

         22  responsibilities. Rather they are assignments with

         23  essentially the same task, each, however, with

         24  increasing degree of responsibility or in the

         25  language of test developers' span of control.
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          2                 DCAS opposes Intro. 330 for both

          3  legal and practical reasons.

          4                 First, pursuant to the New York State

          5  Civil Service Law and New York City Charter, the

          6  power and duty to classify and conduct examinations

          7  for titles rests with DCAS.

          8                 Second, classification and testing

          9  duties rest with DCAS because as the official

         10  administrator of the Civil Service system in the

         11  City of New York, DCAS has the knowledge and

         12  expertise to make these decisions.

         13                 The New York State Civil Service Law

         14  governed the employment of all individuals and

         15  public service in the State of New York.

         16                 In the Civil Service Law, the local

         17  administration of the Civil Service Laws is

         18  entrusted to local commissions termed in the law

         19  "municipal civil service commissions."

         20                 The Charter of the City of New York

         21  in turn provides that the Commissioner of DCAS shall

         22  have the powers and duties of a Municipal Civil

         23  Service Commission under the Civil Service Law.

         24                 Additionally, the Charter

         25  specifically enumerates several powers and duties of
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          2  the DCAS Commissioner.

          3                 Subsections 2 and 3 or Section 814-A

          4  provide that the DCAS Commissioner shall have the

          5  power and duty to establish classes of position in

          6  the Civil Service; that is, the power and duty to

          7  classify, and, of course, to reclassify titles, as

          8  well as the power and duty to conduct examinations

          9  for such positions; that these responsibilities

         10  properly lie within the jurisdiction of a locality's

         11  municipal civil service commission is well settled

         12  by the courts.

         13                 Approximately 75 years ago in a case

         14  entitled Matter of Kilcoyne v. Lohr, the highest

         15  court of this State affirmed a holding by the

         16  Appellate Division that a local legislative body

         17  does not have the power to classify civil service

         18  positions and that such power rests with the

         19  municipal civil service commission of a locality.

         20                 The current line of promotion in the

         21  Uniformed Service of the Department of Correction

         22  was adopted by resolution of DCAS as the municipal

         23  civil service in the City of New York in 1979, and

         24  it has remained the line of promotion ever since.

         25                 This classification affects a very
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          2  small percentage, less than three percent, of the

          3  Correction Department's uniformed force, and only

          4  those in the highest supervisory positions. This

          5  legislation seeks to alter that longstanding

          6  practice.

          7                 The classification of the Warden

          8  title, which has existed for the last 24 years, was

          9  established in fact to provide greater flexibility

         10  in assignments, increase efficiency and operations

         11  and provide Correction employees the opportunity to

         12  advance more rapidly in developing and enriching

         13  their job skills and leadership ability.

         14                 Some time after the resolution was

         15  adopted, four individuals challenged the 1979

         16  resolution and the new line of promotion. In that

         17  case, Lenihan v. City of New York, the Appellate

         18  Division in upholding the authority of this agency

         19  to so classify the Warden title stated: "The

         20  Director of Personnel and individual Department

         21  heads must be given some flexibility in eliminating

         22  and creating positions in their ongoing attempt to

         23  improve the personnel system."

         24                 DCAS has never taken its civil

         25  service responsibilities lightly. A sizable
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          2  percentage of our Bureau of Examinations works

          3  almost exclusively on matters which could be

          4  considered "classification issues"; that is, issues

          5  relating to the structuring of titles in a

          6  methodical manner so as to ensure that all City

          7  agencies will have the kind of workforce they need

          8  to fulfill their missions. The rest of the Bureau of

          9  Examinations works on the related task of conducting

         10  competitive exams to rank candidates for many of

         11  these positions.

         12                 To the layperson, these

         13  classification and examination tasks may seem easy.

         14  They are not. For the most part, the Bureau of

         15  Examinations is staffed with individuals with years

         16  of experience in classifying and testing for

         17  positions.

         18                 Moreover, many of these individuals

         19  have graduate level training in test development and

         20  in the conducting of job analyses. DCAS is a member

         21  of the Mid-Atlantic Personnel Assessment Consortium

         22  and our Assistant Commissioner for Examinations has

         23  made presentations to that professional organization

         24  on issues ranging from job analyses to exam

         25  development.
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          2                 Some in the Bureau are active members

          3  of professional organizations for industrial

          4  psychologists. In short, they are experts.

          5                 As I mentioned earlier, DCAS and its

          6  predecessor agency, the New York City Department of

          7  Personnel, as experts, fulfill their

          8  responsibilities with regard to classifying titles

          9  and examining for positions.

         10                 The Department of Personnel's

         11  Decision in 1979 to reclassify the existing title

         12  series at the Department of Correction came only

         13  after a job analysis was conducted, which supported

         14  the conclusion that the responsibilities of position

         15  above Captain, that is Assistant Deputy Warden and

         16  above, did not differ so much in substance as in

         17  degree.

         18                 Similar title consolidations exist at

         19  other agencies. The promotional structure of the New

         20  York City Police Department, for example, offers

         21  certain parallels.

         22                 At the NYPD, individuals promote

         23  through examinations to the title of Captain, and

         24  while they have many more subordinate ranks, it's a

         25  much larger agency, there are many more layers of
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          2  responsibility there.

          3                 But all individuals promote through

          4  examination to the title of Captain. All ranks

          5  senior to Captain, however, are in fact levels or

          6  details of the Captain title.

          7                 The decision of DCAS to structure the

          8  NYPD promotional line in such a manner is based upon

          9  a similar conclusion of ours that the responsibility

         10  of positions in the NYPD above lieutenant, that is

         11  Captain and above, do not differ so much in

         12  substance as in degree.

         13                 I should note that DCAS would never

         14  discourage an agency from developing its own

         15  criteria, for deciding how to make assignments to

         16  the levels.

         17                 In fact, it's my understanding that

         18  Correction Commissioner Horn intends to make the

         19  criteria he's using explicit, transparent and

         20  objective, with respect to assignment levels for the

         21  leadership positions within the Correction

         22  Department.

         23                 The development of such criteria

         24  seemed to be a very reasonable undertaking. However,

         25  an important distinction must be made between the
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          2  establishment of criteria when considering the

          3  movement of an individual to a higher assignment

          4  level, and the civil service need to conduct a

          5  competitive exam for new and different knowledge,

          6  skills and abilities.

          7                 Using objective criteria, does not

          8  equal testing for qualifications to come up with a

          9  rank list.

         10                 In summary, this bill would

         11  substitute the appropriate determination of the

         12  experts with a broad legislative determination.

         13                 Its passage would be contrary to the

         14  provisions of the New York State Civil Service Law

         15  and the New York City Charter, both of which

         16  recognize that the responsibility for classifying

         17  titles and for examining for those titles must rest

         18  with the experts, in this case DCAS.

         19                 For these reasons, we oppose Intro.

         20  330.

         21                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         22  appear. Chairperson Clarke, we're happy to take any

         23  questions you might have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         25  Commissioner Hirst. Let me first acknowledge that we
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          2  have been joined by Council Member Tony Avella of

          3  Queens, and let me raise a number of questions.

          4                 We've gotten some sense from your

          5  testimony of the complexity of developing the civil

          6  service examinations, but could you explain the

          7  function and content of the Civil Service exam?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Of a particular

          9  Civil Service exam?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes. Generally

         11  those exams, you know, could you just give us the

         12  parameters in which the exams, particularly

         13  pertaining to the Corrections Department, are

         14  established, and what is contained in those exams?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Sure. I'll ask

         16  Deputy Commissioner for Personnel Services Joe

         17  DeMarco to speak to that.

         18                 I should first point out that before

         19  we administer such exams, we conduct a thorough job

         20  analysis, and Joe will speak to how we do that, to

         21  develop the examinations. And we do that in a very

         22  diligent and thorough way, it often takes months, if

         23  not a full year, to develop the analyses.

         24                 Joe, why don't you speak to the

         25  particulars on this exam.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DeMARCO: Well,

          3  the particulars on this Civil Service exam are the

          4  same as any other Civil Service exams, they're not

          5  different.

          6                 Prior to developing the examination,

          7  experts from our agency meet with people who

          8  actually perform the job and their supervisors, a

          9  very detailed job analysis gets performed. And they

         10  observe incumbents in the role of the title we're

         11  testing for. They speak with their supervisors, and

         12  they develop, from a very detailed job analysis,

         13  exactly what knowledges, what skills and what

         14  abilities are needed to perform those functions.

         15                 Based on that, a test plan is

         16  developed, and then tests are developed to test the

         17  skills, knowledges and abilities required to perform

         18  the job. And that process has followed all exams.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, basically the

         20  exam is based on a skill set that that particular

         21  position is to perform?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DeMARCO:

         23  Knowledge, skills and ability, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In the context of

         25  Correction, could you just give us an example of
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          2  what specifically they would need to know?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DeMARCO: Well, I

          4  can reference a notice of examination that said,

          5  I'll give you a summary: "following the job

          6  analysis, conclusions were made on what knowledge,

          7  skills and abilities would be required." So, this

          8  particular test says you'll be given a multiple

          9  choice test, it's designed to assess the extent to

         10  which candidates have certain abilities and

         11  technical knowledge determined to be important to

         12  the performance of the task of a Warden Correction

         13  Level 1.

         14                 "Task areas to be tested are as

         15  follows" -- and then there are seven individual

         16  areas. The first, "oversees facility program

         17  services and inmate movement. These tasks involve

         18  monitoring and follow-up of compliance with various

         19  consent degrees as they pertain to inmates and

         20  operation of the facility."

         21                 Number two, "inspects, searches and

         22  patrols. These tasks involve the monitoring and

         23  supervision of searches of the facility."

         24                 Number three, "oversees staffing and

         25  assignments. These tasks involve the allocation of
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          2  staff, change in staff assignments and monitoring

          3  fitness for duty of Correction staff."

          4                 Number four, "response to conflicts,

          5  emergencies and other unusual situations.

          6                 These tasks involve the direction and

          7  supervision of staff and conflicts and other

          8  emergencies and follow-up procedures."

          9                 Number five, "trains, guides and

         10  counsels. These tasks involve the supervision of

         11  subordinate work performance, the provision of

         12  training and counseling when needed to

         13  subordinates."

         14                 Number six, "communicates

         15  information. These tasks involve the modifications

         16  and communication of information to and from

         17  appropriate staff to facilitate efficient work

         18  performance."

         19                 And number seven, "reviews and

         20  prepares forms, logs and reports. These tasks

         21  involve the preparation and review of forms, logs

         22  and other reports.

         23                 The tests will include questions

         24  which require a mastery of technical knowledge,

         25  based on such material as the Department of
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          2  Correction rules and regulations, minimum standards

          3  for New York City Correctional facilities, policy

          4  and procedure directors, general orders, operational

          5  orders, consent degrees and Mayor's Executive Order

          6  number 16, as amended, in effect up to and including

          7  December 31st, 2001."

          8                 So, what I'm saying basically is,

          9  before an examination is developed, a very

         10  comprehensive job analysis is done. Knowledges,

         11  skills and abilities is determined. It's decided

         12  which areas have to be tested for to see who can

         13  perform the job and then these areas are developed

         14  with test questions relating to each of those seven

         15  areas I covered.

         16                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: And if I could

         17  just add one point. With respect to those questions

         18  and the tests that assesses knowledge, ability and

         19  skill, it's our view, it's the view of our experts,

         20  that these are the basic responsibilities that we

         21  need to ensure that people in all four assignments

         22  levels in this job would hold, and that with

         23  increasing degrees of responsibility, it is the same

         24  set of basic skills, knowledge and ability that

         25  would get built upon in those assignment levels.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: How frequently

          3  are they given this exam for the Department of

          4  Correction?

          5                 How frequently is the Department of

          6  Correction given this testing?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: There's no set

          8  schedule of the Administration of any of our exams.

          9  They're largely based on the needs of the agency.

         10                 I can tell you that the most recent

         11  administration of this exam was almost literally a

         12  year ago, June 22nd, 2002, and that before that, in

         13  1998, before that, 1992, and before that, 1987. So,

         14  based on levels of need as identified to us by the

         15  Department of Correction, and again, that's

         16  consistent with the way we administer all such

         17  exams.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And are there

         19  qualifications that one must meet to take the Civil

         20  Service exam?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, with each

         22  Civil Service exam there's a notice of examination

         23  that is issued. Here is a copy. We can share it with

         24  your Counsel. And with respect to this, it describes

         25  the eligibility to take the examination, it's open
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          2  to each employee of the Department of Correction,

          3  who on the date of this test, one is permanently and

          4  not provisionally employed in or appears on a

          5  preferred list for the title of Captain, and is not

          6  otherwise ineligible.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I think just

          8  based on your testimony, one of the issues that

          9  stood out in your testimony was that the rank of

         10  Deputy Warden does not differ as much in substance

         11  as it does in degree, from an Assistant Deputy

         12  Warden.

         13                 Could you go into a little bit more

         14  detail on that, and why you feel that this is the

         15  case?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, I can in

         17  general terms. Again, I'm not an operations person

         18  at the Department of Correction, but we can tell you

         19  that based on our job analysis typically moving

         20  through those assignment levels, people get an

         21  increasing level of responsibility.

         22                 They may have responsibility for a

         23  larger facility. They may have responsibility for a

         24  specific detail within the Department of

         25  Corrections. They may have responsibility for a
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          2  greater number of staff than they previously did. It

          3  is basically moving through leadership positions in

          4  the Department of Correction with increasingly broad

          5  levels of responsibility. But all involving the same

          6  basic skills that Joe just spoke about - overseeing

          7  facilities, inspecting, searches and patrols,

          8  overseeing staffing, responding to conflicts,

          9  training, guiding and counseling, but in increasing

         10  levels of responsibility.

         11                 So, you might have responsibility for

         12  a small facility, you might move to a different

         13  assignment level and have either a much larger

         14  facility, or be responsible for several facilities,

         15  for example.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, essentially

         17  what you're saying is that the Civil Service exam

         18  would not be appropriate to address that expansion

         19  of the managerial role or scope of service that a

         20  Deputy Warden would perform.

         21                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's right.

         22  Because in the job analyses conducted by our testing

         23  experts the underlying responsibilities are

         24  essentially the same, and it's just a broadening of

         25  levels of responsibility within the leadership ranks
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          2  of the Department.

          3                 They aren't different skills. You

          4  would use a Civil Service test if you were testing

          5  for a different job, a job that requires a different

          6  set of knowledge and skills and abilities, and

          7  that's not the case here.

          8                 That's why here, as in the Police

          9  Department beyond Captain, you have different

         10  assignment levels within the same title.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What your

         12  analysis is saying essentially is that, that an

         13  individual who is an Assistant Deputy Warden would

         14  have the capability of dealing with the nuances that

         15  a broader scope of responsibility and managerial

         16  role would entail?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: I'm saying, yes,

         18  that in terms of the skills and knowledge, those

         19  people would be in our view, after the job analysis

         20  was done, would have the same basic knowledge and

         21  skills to do that job. Whether they're ready for it,

         22  whether they have demonstrated other leadership

         23  ability within the Department, those are the things

         24  that assignment levels demonstrate.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And does the job
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          2  analysis take into account length of tenure and the

          3  position of Deputy Assistant Warden? Does it take

          4  into account length of tenure in the Corrections

          5  Department? What are the components of the job

          6  analysis?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: The job analysis

          8  doesn't take that into account. Anyone who is in the

          9  rank of captain is eligible to take and otherwise

         10  meets the criteria as eligible to take the exam.

         11                 But the assignment level criteria

         12  used by an agency head in making assignment levels,

         13  whether it's the Correction Officer or any other

         14  agency head, certainly the Police Commissioner does

         15  this as well, I would assume, I can't speak for

         16  them, but most likely does indeed take into account

         17  length of service, degree of responsibility to date,

         18  breath of experience, evaluates individual people's

         19  responses to circumstances in a job.

         20                 You may run a small facility at

         21  Corrections, you may have done it exceedingly well.

         22  You may have been there for ten years and had myriad

         23  problems. You may have been there for five years and

         24  done an extraordinary job at addressing the problems

         25  in your facility, and demonstrated that you had the
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          2  ability to assume increasing levels of

          3  responsibility.

          4                 Again, these are things that a

          5  Correction Commissioner would assess in laying out

          6  the criteria for the assignment levels and how

          7  people would have the opportunity to be moved into

          8  those assignment levels.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And that criteria

         10  doesn't currently exist. Commissioner Horn is now in

         11  the process of establishing that, based on your

         12  testimony.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: My understanding

         14  is there may be some criteria that exists at the

         15  Department, I don't know. But in my conversation

         16  with Commissioner Horn, he indicated that it is his

         17  intent and he's at work on making those criteria

         18  that he intends to use as the incumbent

         19  Commissioner, transparent and available to all. So

         20  that anyone interested in those positions can know

         21  what the criteria are by which he would move people

         22  into various assignment levels within the

         23  Department, as any good agency head should assess

         24  people's capabilities against the job at the very

         25  highest levels of the Department in building a
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          2  management team.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, I'm

          4  still not clear on what the job analysis actually

          5  does. If it doesn't look at all of the variables in

          6  the equation, I don't know, maybe I'm a big off, I'm

          7  trying to get a sense of, you know, how your experts

          8  come up with a true analysis of the job when we

          9  already know that the degree at which a Deputy

         10  Warden has to deal with whatever expanded role they

         11  have from an Assistant Deputy Warden's position, and

         12  things, you know, and the discretion is left up to

         13  management, what specifically does your analysis do

         14  that precludes the Deputy Warden from being a civil

         15  service title?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Our analysis

         17  shows that there is nothing particular that a Deputy

         18  Warden will do that is not captured in the Warden

         19  examination. And that's why we speak frequently in

         20  the testimony about the difference between substance

         21  and degree.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I know what the

         23  analysis shows. What I'm asking for is what are the

         24  variables that go into establishing the analysis.

         25                 In other words, you're looking at key
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          2  components of the job.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: And we identified

          4  some of the areas. Commissioner DeMarco just

          5  identified the key areas in the multiple choice

          6  questions that are intended to get at the kinds of

          7  abilities that people need to bring to the Warden

          8  position at any level of assignment.

          9                 In addition, the test looks at

         10  abilities including written communication, planning

         11  and organizing, ability to delegate, management

         12  control, work standards, organizational sensitivity,

         13  decisiveness, judgment and technical translation.

         14                 These are areas that our job analysis

         15  have demonstrated and questions are framed around

         16  assessing people's ability to reflect their skills

         17  in those areas.

         18                 These are broad, managerial jobs.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: The variables

         20  that you stated are extremely broad, they're

         21  extremely general, and I don't see how you can

         22  differentiate between an Assistant Deputy Warden and

         23  a Deputy Warden, given the scope of those variables.

         24                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: On a Civil

         25  Service test we agree with you. And our analysis
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          2  demonstrated exactly that, that you give a Civil

          3  Service exam because this is the array of general

          4  skills and knowledge that anybody from the title of

          5  Assistant Deputy Warden, Deputy Warden and Warden

          6  would need, the broad important skills that anybody

          7  in those titles would need.

          8                 Beyond that, specific jobs, those are

          9  assignment levels and the criteria for those are

         10  ones as at the other uniformed agencies that are

         11  developed within the agency to assess the particular

         12  aptitude for individuals that otherwise meet the

         13  criteria to fit those positions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And when was the

         15  last time that DCAS actually reviewed the nuances

         16  between an Assistant Deputy Warden and a Deputy

         17  Warden.

         18                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: We did a job

         19  analysis, a thorough one, before we administered the

         20  last exam, as we always do. So, it was conducted

         21  prior to the June 2002 Warden exam.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And in

         23  considering that job analysis, did you rely strictly

         24  on the management of Corrections, or was there some

         25  practical discussion with Deputy Wardens in what
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          2  their actual role of responsibility is?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Oh, yes. As

          4  Commissioner DeMarco said, our test experts actually

          5  go and observe incumbents in those jobs, and --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are they

          7  interviewed?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: I believe many

          9  are interviewed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: They are?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DeMARCO: Yes. The

         12  incumbents are observed on the job, some of them are

         13  interviewed, their supervisors are interviewed, and

         14  then the managers above them are interviewed, so

         15  it's a very comprehensive analysis.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And are Assistant

         17  Deputy Wardens interviewed, as well, those who are

         18  perspective Deputy Wardens?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DeMARCO: Everyone

         20  in the title is interviewed. Not every single

         21  incumbent, but all the variations within the title,

         22  yes, that is all covered in the job analysis.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DeMARCO:

         25  Absolutely.

                                                            28

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I just wanted to

          3  get a sense from you of why, and it's pure

          4  speculation on your part, the union would be

          5  concerned about having a Civil Service exam for

          6  Deputy Warden position, and why it is that they are

          7  so vehement for it.

          8                 That's why I raised the whole issue

          9  of the discussions that you've had in determining

         10  through the job analysis, whether in fact, you know,

         11  the title in this expanded role requires a Civil

         12  Service exam.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: You're correct

         14  that it would be speculation on my part. I'll be

         15  happy to speculate for a moment, I guess.

         16                 It would seem that, this is not

         17  uncommon, other unions as well frequently petition

         18  the City in one way or another, either legislatively

         19  or otherwise, to increase the array of exams that

         20  are given so that people are civil servants rather

         21  than managers, subject to managerial discretion.

         22                 So, one is just a relative role that

         23  people play in this process.

         24                 Another might be that there's some

         25  speculation on other people's part that when you
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          2  have managerial discretion, from my vantage point as

          3  a manager of an extremely large agency, the benefit

          4  is I build a team of managers that in my

          5  professional judgment are the best and that share

          6  common goals and will advance the mission of the

          7  agency as we have defined it together, and that does

          8  involve some discretion. And I believe as a manager

          9  and any manager I think would agree, that that is

         10  necessary and important.

         11                 However, if you're not somebody who

         12  shares those views or are a member of that team, you

         13  might perceive that to be favoritism or other, some

         14  other, you know, with discretion comes some

         15  latitude, and I would argue that any manager and the

         16  leadership of any agency warrants latitude. Others

         17  would disagree, I would surmise.

         18                 I would also tell you, again

         19  speculating, this originally, this development of

         20  assignment levels occurred, I'm quite certain,

         21  during the tenure of Ben Ward, who I worked with

         22  closely. I was in that same administration. And I

         23  believe at that time, and it's noted in some of the

         24  language of the decision in litigation

         25  prospectively, that the assignment level, the
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          2  assignment levels were going to allow for the

          3  opportunity for more flexibility, and what that

          4  really meant was providing for more opportunity, not

          5  less, it's most likely, for non-traditional

          6  high-ranking Corrections people, and by that I think

          7  plainly we're talking about women and people of

          8  color to move into some of those assignment levels

          9  at that time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to

         11  acknowledge that we've been joined by Council Member

         12  Tracy Boyland of Brooklyn. She's joined us just in

         13  time, but we were engaged in some discussion.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Good morning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You cited the

         16  case of Lenihan v. City of New York in your

         17  testimony, and from what I understand from my

         18  counsel, the legal issues in this matter were

         19  actually what is called DICTA (phonetic) and the

         20  case was dismissed on procedural grounds. So, the

         21  Appellate Division's comments really have no

         22  presidential value; can you speak to that?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FINKELMAN: I can

         24  speak to it.

         25                 I think we who are litigators call
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          2  that an "alternate holding" by the Appellate

          3  Division. The first held that the petition was

          4  untimely. They then addressed the merits of the

          5  claim and held that the classification was fully

          6  legal. And then upon appellate review, the Court of

          7  Appeals held on the timeliness issue. But the

          8  Appellate Division did address the issue on the

          9  merits, and it is an alternative holding, it's not

         10  just DICTA.

         11                 I've consulted with the Law

         12  Department where I used to work, and they agree with

         13  that analysis.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Tony, or Tracy,

         15  do you have any questions at this time?

         16                 Well, Commissioner, I'm not going to

         17  hold you up. I want to thank you for bringing the

         18  perspective of DCAS to the table. I'm looking

         19  forward to hearing the various views here today so

         20  that the determination of exactly what's taking

         21  place in the Department of Correction can be given

         22  some light.

         23                 I have to tell you that I am

         24  concerned about particularly given the history of

         25  the Department of Correction, the ability to provide
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          2  some sort of merit-based promotional vehicle to the

          3  level of Deputy Warden, and the ability to mitigate

          4  any bias or discrimination when determining who is

          5  to become a Deputy Warden from the level of

          6  Assistant Warden, and I'm hoping that through our

          7  discussions here today we can get some insights into

          8  that because certainly the morale in the Corrections

          9  Department is one that we want to make sure is at

         10  its highest. And I know that's not your purview, but

         11  certainly you're part of facilitating the dynamics

         12  within the Department, and, so, that's what we'll be

         13  looking at today, and I want to thank you for your

         14  expertise in this area.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HIRST: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Our next set of

         17  individuals to testify this morning will be seated

         18  at the panel, and so I'd like to call Mr. Sid

         19  Schwartzbaum, President of the Assistant Deputy

         20  Warden Association. I'd call Mr. Robert Ungar,

         21  Assistant Deputy Warden/Deputy Wardens Legislative

         22  Counsel.  Mr. Peter Meringolo, Correction Captains

         23  Association; and Mr. Nicholas Kaiser, Esquire, of

         24  the ADW/DW Association.

         25                 Good morning, gentlemen. Just state
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          2  your name before you proceed with your testimony,

          3  since we are working based on a panel this morning.

          4                 MR. UNGAR: Good morning, Madam Chair,

          5  Councilman Avella, Council Member Boyland, nice to

          6  see you this morning.

          7                 I'm Robert Ungar, I'm the Legislative

          8  Counsel to the Assistant Deputy Wardens/Deputy

          9  Wardens, and I asked to go first because I wanted to

         10  address a couple of the legal issues that were

         11  raised this morning.

         12                 First of all, the City this morning

         13  gave me a lot of testimony about all kinds of other

         14  agencies that supposedly have some exclusive

         15  jurisdiction over these personnel matters that are

         16  before you in this legislation, and I'd like to

         17  remind you about a piece of legislation that passed

         18  through this House some time ago giving uniformed

         19  status to some of my other clients, David

         20  Rosenzweig's union was here today and EMS. What they

         21  didn't tell you is there is a little section in, I

         22  believe, because I don't have it with me today, I

         23  didn't think I'd need it, but I believe it may be in

         24  the collective bargaining laws. If not, it's

         25  somewhere else in the Charter, that grants the City
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          2  Council specifically, fairly wide latitude to

          3  legislate in the areas of personnel, hiring, working

          4  conditions, working, hours of work, termination and

          5  discipline.

          6                 You know, it is true that there are

          7  many outside influences that operate in the system;

          8  however, as with federal and state governments in

          9  New York City, we have a legislature, and the

         10  legislature sets the law, and the framework within

         11  which these agencies operate. And, you know, I will

         12  supply the section of the law to the Council,

         13  Russell Ungar, not related, too bad because he's a

         14  good lawyer, love to have him in the family firm,

         15  but we'll supply you with a copy of the section so

         16  you can refer to it, but I wanted to debunk that

         17  right away because that kind of changes the tenor of

         18  everything, if you don't have the authority to do

         19  this.

         20                 We went through this. This has

         21  already been done, and I assure you there is a piece

         22  of law that says you have great latitude in these

         23  particular areas.

         24                 Also, there is something called

         25  concurrent jurisdiction. There are numbers of things
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          2  that can be done administratively that can also be

          3  done legislatively. So, if the City chooses not to

          4  do certain things administratively, in many cases

          5  this body has the right to legislate in that area,

          6  so concurrent jurisdiction is something also to keep

          7  in mind.

          8                 I'd like to bring up one point about

          9  Lenihan.

         10                 I'm also a litigator and have been

         11  for a number of years, and when you read the

         12  decision, one of the annotations, the Court takes

         13  pains to point out that the legislation that was for

         14  the court at the time was, the Court's words were

         15  "broadly written." Broadly written. That may have

         16  been intentional at the time that this law was first

         17  created, or it may have been poor draftsmanship,

         18  allowing holes that you can drive trucks through.

         19                 In my experience, in many cases where

         20  the courts take pain to say that we could have done

         21  something, we might have done something, but we're

         22  dismissing it because of some procedural issue, like

         23  the Statute of Limitations, but then go on to give

         24  you a whole story about broad legislation, there's a

         25  hint in there, and some courts are more direct and
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          2  they actually say this is a matter for the

          3  Legislature to clear up. Sometimes they're not that

          4  direct, it depends who the judges are. Some panels

          5  of judges, and also that can depend on the party of

          6  the judges on the panel, there are all kinds of

          7  decisions that come out of court. But I think you

          8  need to know that the Court took pains to point out

          9  this was a very broad piece of legislation, so

         10  what's before you is a corrective, it's really a

         11  corrective action to an overly broad piece of

         12  legislation that allows too much room for everyone

         13  to have their own interpretation of the law, and I

         14  thought that it was very telling in favor of our

         15  position that the Court took pains to say, look,

         16  we're not going to get to the heart of the matter

         17  because this is procedurally defective, but we will

         18  point out that this is so broad, that clearly, you

         19  know, that the City at that time under this existing

         20  law, had the right to do what it did and do some of

         21  this broadbanding of some of these titles.

         22                 But that's why we're here. We're here

         23  to change that law to amend it, to give the law the

         24  effect, practically, that was apparently intended.

         25                 I mean, there are kinds of language
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          2  in the existing chapter about Civil Service

          3  examinations and promotion through merit

          4  examination. Unfortunately, the drafting was such

          5  that it was left "too broad" to exclude some of the

          6  political nonsense that's gone on with these titles

          7  over the last couple of years.

          8                 I mean, I didn't hear anybody from

          9  DCAS saying anything about the corruption scandals

         10  and investigation, which included the demotion of

         11  someone you're going to hear from a little later,

         12  who is here with us today, who has just reinstated

         13  to Deputy Warden and received a settlement from the

         14  City in a lawsuit over this kind of political

         15  nonsense going on with the Deputy Warden title, I

         16  didn't hear them saying that that is a problem. I

         17  heard them say that you're interviewed, but I didn't

         18  hear him say that sometimes you're forced to work in

         19  a certain campaign, or maybe you had to do some work

         20  on the Chief's house, or some other really

         21  inappropriate behavior, and that's what Civil

         22  Service exams are all about.

         23                 So, I hope that I've cleared up some

         24  of what we consider to be the bunk or some of the

         25  things that you were not told about the legal side
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          2  of this, most importantly, that you have

          3  jurisdiction here, that the agencies will have to

          4  operate under the law, as you set it out.

          5                 Okay, I thank you, and I'll turn you

          6  over to Mr. Schwartzbaum.

          7                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Good morning,

          8  Chairwoman Clarke, Councilman Avella, Councilwoman

          9  Boyland, guests. My name is Sidney Schwartzbaum, I'm

         10  president of the Assistant Deputy Warden's

         11  Association. I've been an Assistant Deputy Warden

         12  for 16 years, and I'm here today to implore you to

         13  support Intro. 330 which would mandate a Civil

         14  Service test for Deputy Warden within the New York

         15  City Department of Correction.

         16                 This legislation would create career

         17  path parity within the Department of Correction

         18  similar to that of NYPD, which has three promotional

         19  exams, as opposed to two for the New York City

         20  Correction Department.

         21                 During the internal investigation

         22  regarding the Chief Anthony Serra scandal, I was a

         23  witness, and I've heard many troubling testimony

         24  from my members, who felt their career path was

         25  based on if they were involved with the republican
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          2  party, regard campaign managing, poll watching and

          3  political affiliation as opposed to merit and

          4  fitness.

          5                 When I questioned them regarding

          6  this, why didn't they come to complain to me, they

          7  felt that I couldn't get them promoted, only the

          8  powers that be collectively.

          9                 The Civil Service test incorporates a

         10  formula for experience, knowledge, performance,

         11  culminating in a combined score to measure a

         12  person's ability to reach high levels of

         13  responsibility.

         14                 It is not only the written test

         15  that's incorporated, there are other aspects that

         16  are incorporated into the final score, which is your

         17  performance evaluation, your attendance, whether

         18  you've been charged or convicted of brutality.

         19                 So, there's a myriad number of ways

         20  you can exclude people you feel should not reach the

         21  high levels of responsibility.

         22                 The most informed and competent

         23  departmental managers with knowledge of the law and

         24  federal mandates would curtail a similar $50 million

         25  lawsuit paid out by the City of New York because of
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          2  managers within the Department of Correction who

          3  thumb their nose and many, many aspects and consent

          4  decrees which they were well aware of, or had no

          5  knowledge of because they were promoted without

          6  having a prerequisite knowledge, which they should

          7  have had.

          8                 Assistant Deputy Warden should be

          9  promoted to Deputy Warden based on what they know,

         10  rather than who they know.

         11                 Let us not forget the reason why the

         12  Civil Service Merit system was created following the

         13  Boss Tweed Era in City government.

         14                 Cronyism and favoritism must step

         15  aside for the concept of merit and fitness. A Civil

         16  Service Test for Deputy Warden would both bolster

         17  the morale of my membership, along with the

         18  effectiveness of City government.

         19                 I would like to say a few things.

         20  Number one, I listened to Martha Hirst, the

         21  Commissioner of DCAS, talk about the duties of an

         22  Assistant Deputy Warden and the duties of a Deputy

         23  Warden, and how tests are formulated. Although I'm

         24  not a Commissioner of DCAS, I must say the

         25  Department felt that I was competent enough and
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          2  qualified enough to formulate three promotional

          3  exams within the Department of Correction. I did two

          4  Assistant Deputy Warden exams and a Captain's exam,

          5  and not to blow my own horn, I did formulate 90

          6  percent of those exams. I know what the duties of an

          7  Assistant Deputy Warden are, as opposed to a Deputy

          8  Warden, so when you say you can't quantify, qualify

          9  the difference in ranks, I will tell you that as an

         10  Assistant Deputy Warden is like the chief bottle

         11  washer in the jail. He's in charge on the off hours

         12  when nobody else is there. When there's an emergency

         13  alarm, he formulates in dispatch and ensures an

         14  expeditious response to emergencies.

         15                 He is the Fire Commander. He

         16  formulates comprehensive reports regarding

         17  investigations.

         18                 A Deputy Warden, on the other hand,

         19  is more of a -- if I had to equate an Assistant

         20  Deputy Warden to let's a doctor, I would say he's

         21  the emergency room worker. He takes everything that

         22  comes in, gunshot wounds, and he's the emergency

         23  worker. Whereas, the Deputy Warden, if I had to

         24  equate it in the medical field, he is like the

         25  hospital resident.
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          2                 A Deputy Warden does brutality

          3  interviews on staff. He does an analysis of numbers

          4  within the jails to look for spikes. They

          5  incorporate budget comprehensive recourse. They

          6  formulate specific institutional orders, germane to

          7  that facility, derived from operations orders and

          8  directives. They formulate a state of command for

          9  the warden, which is the state of the entire

         10  command. They process and deal with grievances on

         11  labor relations. Their job is different than

         12  Assistant Deputy Warden.

         13                 What we are trying to accomplish here

         14  today is to get parity with NYPD, which has a test

         15  for Police Captain. We want one more chance to move

         16  ahead based on merit and fitness, and what has

         17  happened in the Department of Correction over the

         18  last few years is heartbreaking, it has destroyed

         19  the morale of the agency, it has caused people not

         20  to want to come forward on corruption, because of

         21  retaliation. The highlighted point with the Anthony

         22  Serra scandal, here was a man, at the time of his

         23  promotion to Deputy Warden, was facing charges for

         24  submitting false reports and false testimony, yet he

         25  was promoted despite that while charges were
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          2  pending. It was political. He moved up five ranks

          3  within two and a half years, three years. I mean,

          4  that particular case is the poster boy why we need

          5  merit and fitness.

          6                 Many, many other people who have been

          7  promoted were involved in that team, the republican

          8  operators involved in poll watching, and that

          9  shouldn't be a basis for who you -- there are many

         10  republicans I support, and there are many democrats,

         11  but based on the content of their character and

         12  their heart, and not for political affiliations.

         13                 I urge you to support this bill. It

         14  would bring good City government, it would boost

         15  morale, and it would allow people to want to come on

         16  this job, and reach the apex of their career based

         17  on merit and fitness.

         18                 I thank you very much, and I would

         19  also welcome any questions regarding the specific

         20  duties of the different ranks.  I feel I'm qualified

         21  to answer any questions you may have.

         22                 I want to introduce my colleague and

         23  good friend, President of the Captains Union, Peter

         24  Meringolo.

         25                 MR. MERINGOLO: Yes, good morning,
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          2  Councilwoman Clarke, esteemed members of the City

          3  Council, staff. I do appreciate the opportunity to

          4  testify before you.

          5                 I think that I would like to qualify

          6  that I have been a veteran of this Department for 32

          7  years.

          8                 Later on in my testimony you will

          9  read that while I've heard DCAS talk about

         10  consistency and continuity, I worked for 16

         11  Commissioners in 32 years. So, the average life

         12  expectancy of a Commissioner in this Department is

         13  about two years, and they don't point that out when

         14  they talk about consistency.

         15                 That in and of itself has created the

         16  turmoil that we're here testifying about.

         17                 The reality is that a new

         18  Commissioner will come in and make new appointments

         19  based upon what he or she sees at that moment, and

         20  before they even get implemented, the Commissioner

         21  may be gone, and then a new person comes in and it's

         22  a new team of people.

         23                 I worked in this Department for 32

         24  years. Presently I am the President of the

         25  Correction Captains' Association, and I have held
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          2  that position for 13 years.

          3                 I am also the Chairman of the New

          4  York State Public Employees Conference, an

          5  organization comprised of over 50 unions

          6  representing all public employees.

          7                 In that 32 years, I've been a captain

          8  for 23 of them. I've worked inside the jails for 19

          9  years, so when I speak I can speak to the ability of

         10  the managers and how the jails inside the facilities

         11  are run.

         12                 As a public servant for 32 years, I

         13  believe promotions to the rank of Deputy Warden

         14  should be accomplished via a competitive Civil

         15  Service exam.

         16                 When the position of Deputy Warden

         17  was obtained by a competitive test, the Department

         18  was not only run better, it was also ensured that

         19  the most qualified and knowledgeable individuals

         20  were promoted.

         21                 I can clearly say this without any

         22  reservation, since I've seen it both ways.

         23                 When they talked about the job of

         24  Assistant Deputy Warden being the same, and if you

         25  take a test for Assistant Deputy Warden, which they
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          2  call "Warden," you can go from Assistant Deputy

          3  Warden, to Deputy Warden and Warden and not have any

          4  additional knowledge is ridiculous. They're three

          5  totally different jobs, carrying three totally

          6  different sets of responsibilities, and the current

          7  process that's been utilized over the years, clearly

          8  does not allow the most qualified to be promoted.

          9                 I heard Sidney talk about Chief

         10  Serra. Chief Serra was a Captain in my union, and he

         11  does hold the distinct honor of being the only

         12  Captain ever promoted to ADW pending charges. That's

         13  because the Administration at that time probably saw

         14  Captain Serra as the rising star and as history

         15  tells itself, he then rose five ranks to Chief of

         16  the Department.

         17                 If you checked and looked at the

         18  background, this Captain never should have really

         19  made it to the rank of ADW, and I could say that

         20  being the junior president. I'm the one who

         21  negotiated this penalty. I'm the union president

         22  first, if you're going to reduce the penalty for my

         23  member, I'm going to take that. But in testimony

         24  they use a competitive exam, but they use it only to

         25  get you to ADW. Clearly, by all the administrations
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          2  you can see a constant change.

          3                 If you go out to the field and talk

          4  to the officers and the captains, who with the ADWs

          5  run the facilities, they would tell you there's no

          6  consistency. They would tell you, you could almost

          7  pick the people that were going to get promoted,

          8  just based on their affiliations.

          9                 Unions do get involved in elections.

         10  It's one of our jobs. Unions do lobby members of the

         11  City Council, we lobby members of the Senate and the

         12  Assembly. The Department, the agency also gets

         13  involved when they shouldn't and they sometimes need

         14  to -- there were members of this agency that

         15  supported Mark Green for Mayor, I supported Mayor

         16  Bloomberg for Mayor, but just because you supported

         17  somebody does not mean that you can then, if the

         18  other person wins, and the right people are in

         19  power, then all of a sudden, they determine where

         20  you get promoted or if you don't get promoted, and

         21  that's been a proven history in this Department.

         22  They get involved in what you do as a citizen, and

         23  they do hold that against you.

         24                 I've seen members of this Department

         25  become Deputy Wardens without the proper experience
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          2  and knowledge of how to be a Deputy Warden.

          3                 I've always been a supporter of

          4  rising through the ranks via your expertise, not

          5  friendships.

          6                 What makes the current process even

          7  worse is administrative changes. The Administration

          8  changes so frequently, therefore the Department of

          9  constantly undergoing change that does absolutely

         10  nothing for stability.

         11                 Currently the Deputy Wardens are a

         12  part of the Assistant Deputy Wardens Union. To me it

         13  doesn't make sense to have the ADWs in that union

         14  picked to become Deputy Warden within the same

         15  union. It seems to breed a lot of dissention and

         16  controversy, especially if you have an Assistant

         17  Deputy Warden if you're working in the trenches, the

         18  facilities, for ten or 12 years, and he or she sees

         19  a counterpart, with two years they might have a

         20  relationship with the Commissioner, all of a sudden

         21  be told they have more qualifications.

         22                 Often times I use the same analogy.

         23  They'll go to pass over a Captain for the rank of

         24  Assistant Deputy Warden, and they'll use the analogy

         25  that that Captain has too many uses of force, so we
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          2  really don't see them as proper Assistant Deputy

          3  Warden material. They'll make someone who has worked

          4  downtown who has never been in the facility for 12

          5  years, so as I say to the Department, under that

          6  criteria, the person who has been working in the

          7  trenches, of course he or she is going to have uses

          8  of force. They're working with the incarcerated

          9  individuals, versus the person who works downtown

         10  who never sees an inmate, but they'll make that

         11  person the Assistant Deputy Warden, they'll use the

         12  one in three rule which I also oppose.

         13                 But this same criteria has to hold

         14  through when you go from ADW to DW. They will make

         15  an ADW a DW who has never worked in the facilities.

         16                 Members of this Department will tell

         17  you, if you're a good Correction officer, you're

         18  going to be a good Captain. If you're a good

         19  Captain, you're going to be a good ADW. Nothing

         20  should take the place of experience.

         21                 Lastly, a Civil Service examination

         22  would also eliminate the many lawsuits coming out of

         23  this Department, based on the lack of knowledge of

         24  the job. The Deputy Warden is a tough job that

         25  carries a lot of responsibility.
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          2                 In addition to having the most

          3  qualified, I believe that the men and women Deputy

          4  Wardens should be afforded due process rights for

          5  the job they perform.

          6                 The Department should not have that

          7  ability to demote and promote at will. And just to

          8  make the final comparison, I heard the Commissioner

          9  talk about these Captains. A Sergeant in the Police

         10  Department is equivalent to a Captain in Correction.

         11  A Lieutenant in the Police Department is equivalent

         12  to an Assistant Deputy Warden.

         13                 Lieutenants in the Police Department

         14  do take the Civil Service tests to become a Captain.

         15  All we're asking for here is an Assistant Deputy

         16  Warden who is equivalent to a Lieutenant to take a

         17  Civil Service test to become a Deputy Warden. Their

         18  Captain and our Deputy Warden would be the same.

         19                 And our Commissioner had indicated to

         20  myself and Sidney that he would be in favor of

         21  looking at an exam for Deputy Warden. He said that

         22  to both myself and Sidney. At our union meetings he

         23  did clearly state he would never be in favor of a

         24  competitive exam for Warden, and quote/unquote, he

         25  wanted a right to hire and fire at will. And I would
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          2  give him that at the rank of Warden and above,

          3  there's only maybe ten or 12 of them. But clearly to

          4  get the most qualified men and women, it would come

          5  out of that Civil Service exam and they would base

          6  it on experience and knowledge.

          7                 So, I appreciate the opportunity to

          8  speak before you and I welcome any questions.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. KAISER: Good morning, Chairwoman

         11  Clarke, Councilwoman Boyland, Councilman Avella. My

         12  name is Nicholas Kaiser, I'm a retired Correction

         13  Captain, and I was asked by Sidney Schwartzbaum to

         14  come here today and testify because I think I bring

         15  a unique perspective to this entire issue and

         16  discussion.

         17                 In addition to being a retired

         18  Captain, I have served from 1978 through 1998 in the

         19  New York City Department of Correction at rank

         20  levels. I was an officer, I was a Captain, I was a

         21  Provisional Assistant Deputy Warden for two years. I

         22  took a revision in rank because of the time they

         23  overpromoted, that was in June of 1998. They asked

         24  me to be repromoted to Assistant Deputy Warden

         25  September of '88, but I declined it as I was
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          2  attending law school at the time. I'm also an

          3  attorney, I'm admitted in practice and I presently

          4  work for a large insurance concern, although I do

          5  provide Council to Sidney and some members on

          6  occasion.

          7                 I'm a little aghast that I don't see

          8  Commissioner Horn here today based on the importance

          9  of this particular issue, and I have to tell you

         10  that I come here today, not just out of my

         11  friendship with Sidney Schwartzbaum, who has been a

         12  close personal friend for 20 years, and my

         13  friendship with Peter Meringolo, who I have known

         14  almost as long, but because of all that I have seen

         15  and heard. I spent last week at the Department of

         16  Investigation with a woman who came to me seeking to

         17  testify concerning the new probe in the Herbert Reed

         18  matter.

         19                 She came to me in counsel, I'm not

         20  going to provide further details because of the

         21  nature of that relationship, but what I saw before

         22  me was a woman who had given 25 years of valued

         23  service, who was basically forced out of the agency

         24  because she wasn't the teen player, at the rank of

         25  Deputy Warden.
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          2                 Two years ago another woman came to

          3  me at the behest of Sidney Schwartzbaum, for advice

          4  and Council.

          5                 She also was at the rank of Deputy

          6  Warden. She was another woman who I had known

          7  personally for many years who was a tremendously

          8  valued employee, in fact one of the best workers I

          9  had ever seen in the agency, who was basically told

         10  on the spot to throw in her retirement papers or be

         11  demoted in rank.

         12                 I think these are just two simple

         13  examples that are illustrative of what has existed

         14  by the New York City Department of Correction over

         15  the past several years under the two prior

         16  commissionerships, I should say, that of

         17  Commissioner Kerik, and that of Commissioner

         18  Frazier.

         19                 I also get numerous phone calls from

         20  people who ask me for counsel. I don't represent

         21  people in lawsuits, I'm not a plaintiffs' Council,

         22  and I do not take on active cases. I speak with

         23  people and counsel them. I have numerous calls that

         24  I have received and discussions that I've had, with

         25  present and former members of the New York City
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          2  Department of Correction.

          3                 I believe firmly that the morale of

          4  the New York City Department of Correction today is

          5  probably at the lowest level than I can recall, and

          6  I can recall in 1978 working in a HDM complex when

          7  we were stuck in overtime four days in a row, and

          8  worked four consecutive 16-hour shifts, dealt with

          9  high levels of inmate violence, and large

         10  populations of inmates, much larger than today, yet,

         11  I've never seen the morale as low. And I think a

         12  large component of that is because the line staff in

         13  the facilities today, Correction officers, captains

         14  and Assistant Deputy Wardens, basically have no

         15  faith in many of their superiors. Some of the Deputy

         16  Wardens, many of the Wardens, many of the Assistant

         17  Chiefs and whatever ranks are above them.

         18                 And I think they don't for very

         19  logical reasons, and that is, many of those

         20  positions appear to have obtained by either

         21  political patronage, favoritism, or just simply

         22  because someone was lucky enough to be in the right

         23  place at the right time working for the right Chief

         24  or the right Deputy Commissioner downtown and got

         25  noticed.

                                                            55

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 I'm not going to sit here today and

          3  tell you that I didn't also have some good details

          4  in the Department. I did. I did work ten and a half

          5  years, largely at Rikers Island at three ranks, and

          6  I dealt in inmate population for a very long time.

          7  But I took it upon myself to get educated,

          8  notwithstanding the fact that no one would help me

          9  get a steady tour so that I could take a repromotion

         10  to Assistant Deputy Warden and attend law school at

         11  the same time. Then again, I wasn't on the right

         12  team in those days either.

         13                 I think that it is incumbent upon

         14  this Council to examine the testimony you're hearing

         15  here today, and whatever information will be

         16  additionally supplied to you, and look at what is

         17  going on in the New York City Department of

         18  Correction, from the perspective of the average

         19  Correction officer and say, how can one expect to

         20  advance in an agency, when you know that once you

         21  achieve the rank of Assistant Deputy Warden, it

         22  really depends on what Administration is in power,

         23  and what the political tenor of the time is.

         24                 I think that's pretty sad, and I

         25  think the only way you can assure that this
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          2  meritocracy that everyone speaks of can be

          3  reinstituted, is by having civil service testing.

          4                 The components of the testing could

          5  be varied, it can include a written examination, it

          6  can include an oral piece, it can include a project

          7  that examines one's ability to write reports. I'm

          8  sure that it can be done, in fact, the testimony of

          9  DCAS pretty well illustrates that they have the

         10  expertise to do that if they want to.

         11                 You know, in the analogous

         12  circumstances of the Police Department, I can tell

         13  you that if my house were burning down, and fire

         14  companies responded, I would like to know that the

         15  Battalion Chief commending the companies and

         16  directing them into the fire to save my home, my

         17  family and my neighbors, and Battalion Chief is the

         18  equivalent rank of Deputy Warden; am I correct? Knew

         19  technically how to fight fires, and didn't have that

         20  position simply because they were the prospective

         21  Mayor's bodyguard. I'm really, I have to tell you,

         22  I'm almost embarrassed that I have to be here today,

         23  and argue for this kind of an exam to be initiated

         24  and promulgated. But it has to be, because the

         25  experience of the New York City Department of
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          2  Correction over the past few years has been

          3  abominable.

          4                 Reading the newspapers, listening to

          5  people as I do constantly, Correction officers,

          6  talking about incidents which I could relate to you

          7  at length if we had 15 hours to discuss it, tells me

          8  that the only reasonable thing to do is to ensure if

          9  someone is going to be promoted to the rank of

         10  Deputy Warden, that it be done on merit, that it not

         11  be done based on political patronage, favoritism, or

         12  other kinds of subjective factors. And, frankly, I

         13  didn't hear any objective factors cited.

         14                 Under Acting Commissioner Gerald

         15  Mitchell, there was a criteria established for

         16  promotion from Warden Level 1, which is an Assistant

         17  Deputy Warden, to Warden Level 2, which is Deputy

         18  Warden, that it included things such as experience

         19  and educational level. I don't believe they exist

         20  any longer, do they? I think that's abominable.

         21                 And I can tell you another thing. As

         22  an attorney who also worked in in the Trials and

         23  Litigation Division of the New York City Department

         24  of Correction, the Legal Division of the New York

         25  City Department of Correction, who prosecuted
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          2  disciplinary matters, I can tell you that the threat

          3  of demotion from Deputy Warden to Assistant Deputy

          4  Warden was the tool of harassment and depression

          5  that was used time and time again for political and

          6  personal purposes.

          7                 If we're going to stop that, ensure

          8  that it doesn't happen again, then Intro. 330 is the

          9  beginning of that process to ensure that it doesn't

         10  happen again.

         11                 I'm sure that Commissioner Horn is a

         12  well-meaning individual. I'm certain that Mayor

         13  Bloomberg is a person of goodwill, but we can't

         14  always assume that the next person is going to be

         15  the same way, and the only way to ensure that is if

         16  the City Council passes Intro. 330.

         17                 Thank you for your time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         19  all you gentlemen for your testimony. You certainly

         20  bring the practical application of what we've been

         21  talking about to the forefront.

         22                 I think Council Member Tony Avella

         23  has a question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: A couple of

         25  points. I apologize for being late to the Committee
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          2  meeting, but I did have a ceremony at one of my

          3  schools in my district.

          4                 First of all, why isn't the

          5  Department of Corrections represented here this

          6  morning? I'm just curious for the record?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner

          8  Horn, I guess his schedule just didn't permit for it

          9  today.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: But we did

         11  invite him?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: And we don't

         14  have any sort of representation --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let Marietta just

         16  state it for the record.

         17                 Go ahead, Marietta.

         18                 MS. KRIMITIS: Marietta Krimitis with

         19  the Mayor's Office.

         20                 DCAS puts together a Citywide test,

         21  they put together the qualifications for the test,

         22  and so DCAS is representing the City on any issues

         23  that pertain to testing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I know you're

         25  not a witness here, but it certainly raises the
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          2  question that the agency we're talking about --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Just hold on, but

          4  Commissioner Horn, the invitation was extended to

          5  Commissioner Horn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Well, that

          7  answers my question.

          8                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Since Martha Hirst

          9  conjecturally disseminated her reasons why we want

         10  this, I have to express to you that our Commissioner

         11  came to my union meeting in front of 80 members, and

         12  Pete's 120 members and stated he would be in favor

         13  of a test because a test is just one aspect of

         14  qualifications, it incorporations other things,

         15  evaluations. So, I'm in a quandary here today why

         16  the Commissioner of Correction supports the test,

         17  has other Commissioners testifying against it. I'm

         18  perplexed by it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Well, I'm

         20  sitting here on this side of the aisle perplexed as

         21  well. So, where do you think the opposition is

         22  coming from? I mean, is it the task force or the

         23  Administration at this point?

         24                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: I think it's a

         25  little bit of both, but I think as the young lady
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          2  just said, there's a fear that passing this

          3  resolution may have Citywide implications that other

          4  people wouldn't want the testing, and that's a fair

          5  comment for her to make.

          6                 However, I am concerned about the

          7  Department of Correction. I am concerned about the

          8  best and the brightest moving ahead.

          9                 I also would like to state to you,

         10  since the implementation of broadbanding in 1979,

         11  for the period in 1979 to the period of 1994, the

         12  violence in the jails has escalated off the roof.

         13  From 1994 til now, it went down a lot, but not

         14  because, so has the census, so has we've been

         15  rearresting the prisoners and all of that, but

         16  there's been more litigation since the

         17  implementation of broadbanding, we have the Brad H

         18  Litigation, we have the Shepard Litigation, we had

         19  the Monto Magno Jackson and the Board of Correction

         20  could tell you that, there's a lot of cases of

         21  brutality and I think we need people with the

         22  knowledge, experience, the civil service protections

         23  to take the bull by the horn and to stop these

         24  litigations, and just like teachers should be

         25  qualified, judges should be qualified and not bought
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          2  and paid for, neither should Deputy Wardens have to

          3  pay deference to individual parties for their

          4  promotions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: During the

          6  testimony, it was mentioned that at one point there

          7  was a competitive test for Deputy Warden; when was

          8  it last implemented and when did it change, and do

          9  we know why?

         10                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: If you look at my

         11  testimony, on the second -- I gave out a package, I

         12  don't know if you got it. The last thing is

         13  Justification for the Bill; do you have that?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Yes.

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: And it outlines

         16  that 1979 personnel resolution 7914 was passed,

         17  where there used to be a test for not only Deputy

         18  Warden, there was a test for Warden. The personnel

         19  resolution, what it did, it has incorporated the

         20  Assistant Deputy Warden, Deputy Warden, Warden ranks

         21  into the one classification of Warden, and you have

         22  different assignment levels. So, in other words, in

         23  accordance with DCAS, Assistant Deputy Wardens also

         24  known as, a/k/a, is Warden Level 1, which is a

         25  competitive Civil Service test. A Deputy Warden is a
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          2  Warden Level 2, which is in a pointed position, and

          3  that personnel resolution allowed the City of New

          4  York to broadband anything above the rank of

          5  Assistant Deputy Warden to the higher ranks. And all

          6  we are asking for is parity with NYPD, which has

          7  three promotional exams, and after that the

          8  Commissioner should be able to promote like they do

          9  in the Police Department from inspector and above.

         10  That's all we're asking for, parity with NYPD.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thanks. I just

         12  want to make one quick comment and then I'll turn it

         13  back to the Chair.

         14                 The one thing that has come out of

         15  today's testimony is I'm happy to sign onto the

         16  bill, the Chair's bill, and I would certainly

         17  recommend that we pass this as soon as possible.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Avella.

         20                 I have a few questions for you

         21  gentlemen, and whoever, feel free to respond.

         22                 Do you believe that a Civil Service

         23  exam can effectively gauge whether one is suited for

         24  Deputy Warden?

         25                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Absolutely. I
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          2  worked in the rank of Assistant Deputy Warden for 16

          3  years, but I've also had the opportunity when the

          4  Deputy Warden was out sick to work in the rank --

          5  not in the rank of, but in the title of doing the

          6  duties of the Deputy Warden position for six to

          7  seven months, and you can devise a test which could

          8  be, as my esteemed friend said, involve an in-basket

          9  like in the Police Department Captain, a video

         10  monitor, a testing of the myriad consent decrees,

         11  directives, operations orders in written form, an

         12  essay which is germane to the Deputy Warden's

         13  duties, to formulate a comprehensive institutional

         14  order, germane to a specific facility, given the

         15  specific facts.

         16                 Yes, you can quantify and you can

         17  devise a test, and it can be done and DCAS testified

         18  today how expertise they are.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me just add

         20  to that. I asked Commissioner Hirst about whether

         21  individuals were interviewed in their next round of

         22  establishing their job analysis for the exams that

         23  will be taking place in June of 2003, were any of

         24  you, or do you know of anyone who was interviewed

         25  for the job analysis that they conducted, to your
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          2  knowledge?

          3                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: I don't know that

          4  for sure, but I know when I was on the testing panel

          5  in the early 1990s for several tests, there is what

          6  they call a Task In Standards. We devise what are

          7  the duties of an Assistant Deputy Warden; what are

          8  their specific duties; what are their

          9  responsibilities; and we devised about 50 different

         10  tasks and standards. And they use those tasks and

         11  standards for Assistant Deputy Warden, but after

         12  that there is no criteria.

         13                 There was a criteria that you had to

         14  have one year's probation to move up to one-year

         15  period to move up to Deputy Warden and they killed

         16  that recently with promoting people on probation.

         17                 So, in essence now you could serve as

         18  an Assistant Deputy Warden for one day and move up

         19  to Deputy Warden. So, it's not good. It's not good

         20  for City government. It's not good for the union.

         21                 MR. MERINGOLO: And I would like to

         22  add that there used to be a criteria, in the rank of

         23  Deputy Warden there are three distinct areas, you

         24  have Deputy Warden for Programs, Deputy Warden for

         25  Administration, and Deputy Warden for Security.
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          2                 The way to determine if a person

          3  would be eligible to then go to Warden, usually that

          4  ADW should have worked in all three capacities. That

          5  doesn't happen today, so as a man or woman you would

          6  have been well-rounded in all three areas, because

          7  clearly as a Warden you have to have full knowledge

          8  of all three areas. And usually they don't ask the

          9  people inside the facilities, the criteria.

         10                 I'm sure if you've asked some of the

         11  Captains or the Officers that are being led by

         12  Deputy Wardens, it's disheartening to take orders

         13  from a Deputy Warden who never worked inside a jail.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do any of you

         15  know how many Deputy Warden positions actually

         16  exist? Is it mandated, a certain number of Deputy

         17  Wardens? Or is that discretionary as well?

         18                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: There's usually in

         19  a jail but they do a lot of shuffling around, and

         20  some jails only have two. When somebody goes on

         21  vacation so many jails only have one. Sometimes the

         22  Deputy Warden serves as Acting Warden when the

         23  Warden is on vacation so you might have an

         24  inexperienced person in charge of the entire

         25  facility in all its operations who has very little
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          2  experience when a Warden goes on vacation.

          3                 Total all together as of now, I would

          4  say it's about 42.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That's throughout

          6  the system, that's just beyond Rikers Island?

          7                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Yes, there was 55,

          8  but there is a bunch of them on terminal leave.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And, so, there's

         10  nothing that compels them to keep a minimum number

         11  of --

         12                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Which would be

         13  good, like the Police Department has a minimum in

         14  the Administrative Code, certain amount of captains.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you recommend

         16  any other types of reviews for promotion to Deputy

         17  Warden in addition to the Civil Service exam?

         18                 I think you alluded to some of the

         19  other nuances in your testimony earlier.

         20                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Well, as part of

         21  the Civil Service exam, you incorporate, in other

         22  words the test could account for 60 or 70 percent

         23  and DCAS will determine that on a notice of exam.

         24  Like the test could account for 70 percent and the

         25  other 30 percent would be your time and rank as an
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          2  Assistant Deputy Warden, your attendance record, if

          3  you had any medals, you would get deductions for,

          4  educational achievements would be incorporated into

          5  that, and you would get deductions for charges and

          6  specifications, but you could also be passed over in

          7  the one and three rule if they found you not

          8  suitable for the position. So, they have a lot of

          9  leeway, even with a civil service test.

         10                 But it would bring some sort of

         11  objective criteria that you could sink your teeth

         12  into.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         14                 Why would you say that Assistant

         15  Deputy Wardens and other Correction employees that

         16  negotiate through collective bargaining with the

         17  Administration for the ability to take a Civil

         18  Service exam to ascend to the rank of Deputy Warden;

         19  why can't that happen?

         20                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Well, in 1998 I put

         21  that on the table to bargain. They said it was a

         22  mandatory subject of bargaining and not bargaining

         23  with me over that.

         24                 In the last round of negotiations,

         25  and to this day I haven't signed my contract because
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          2  I put in as the non-monetary requests, was some

          3  objective criteria to measure a person's ability to

          4  ascend the rank to the next level, and they stated

          5  they would not negotiate that with me because it's

          6  not a mandatory subject for bargaining. Work it out

          7  with your Department.

          8                 But they played this game of stick

          9  and move and runaround.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I found it

         11  interesting that Commissioner Hirst mentioned that

         12  Commissioner Horn would be establishing some

         13  criteria and transparency in terms of how

         14  individuals would be selected to become Deputy

         15  Wardens; have any of you heard anything of that

         16  nature? Has that existed previous to Commissioner

         17  Horn?

         18                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: As my colleague

         19  Peter Meringolo and Nicholas Kaiser stated, Gerald

         20  Mitchell, a former Commissioner, had specific

         21  criteria which was a certain percentage for your

         22  time and rank, certain percentage for your

         23  education, a certain percentage of your experience

         24  in the bigger jails, and you would come up with a

         25  formula and they would be allowed to pick the one in
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          2  three rule. That was a directive, and that was

          3  thrown out with different administrations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And when was that

          5  Commissioner in?

          6                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: That was Gerald

          7  Mitchell.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes, what period

          9  of time was that?

         10                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: That was 1990 --

         11  about 1992 or '3.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, so it was

         13  about a decade ago.

         14                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: About a decade ago.

         15                 Commissioner Horn had stated to me

         16  privately, in meetings with my Board, that he would

         17  support a Civil Service test, and pending a Civil

         18  Service test, he wants to implement a directive with

         19  some specific criteria.

         20                 I've heard it, I've listened, I'm

         21  surprised why he's not here today in support of it,

         22  but maybe in the bigger realm of things they don't

         23  want to start a precedent here, but it's needed in

         24  the Department.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.
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          2                 Well, I want to thank you gentlemen

          3  for coming in and shedding light and bringing the

          4  perspective of the practitioners to the table,

          5  because often times you'll have the administrators,

          6  and you're absolutely correct, I think it's

          7  important to have the head of the Department, the

          8  Commissioner for Corrections, at this hearing, as

          9  well as DCAS. They do bring in the Citywide

         10  implications. But there is a very specific concern

         11  here in the Department of Corrections, and it has

         12  manifested itself very publicly, and I know for many

         13  years there have been personnel within the

         14  Department who have been suffering because of the

         15  opaqueness of the issue and the fact that, you know,

         16  it's very hard to get information coming out of the

         17  type of work that you all do, and this is, I think,

         18  the beginning of a movement to really bring these

         19  things to light and take the corrective measures

         20  necessary to reform and rebuild the Corrections

         21  Department here in the City of New York. So, I want

         22  to thank you.

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: For our next

         25  panel we're going to have Mr. Dane Martin of the
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          2  Association of Caribbean Americans in Correction.

          3  We're going to have David Rosenzweig of the Civil

          4  Service Merit Council, and Edward J. Gavin, former

          5  Deputy Director and Warden, retired.

          6                 And gentlemen, we are running behind

          7  time, so I would ask that if you have written

          8  testimony, that you summarize and try to keep your

          9  comments to about three minutes so that we can ask

         10  questions in a timely fashion.

         11                 Gentlemen, before you start your

         12  testimony, would you please state your name and

         13  affiliation.

         14                 MR. GAVIN: Good morning. My name is

         15  Edward J. Gavin. I'm a civilian. I was formerly a

         16  Deputy Warden, or Warden Level 2 in the New York

         17  City Department of Correction.

         18                 I left the agency shortly after 9/11,

         19  December 14th of 2001. I recently came off the books

         20  February 25th of 2002. Prior to my retirement, I

         21  also served as a Deputy Director in the Mayor's

         22  Office of Emergency Management during 9/11, and I'm

         23  here to shed some light on some of the things that

         24  are going on in the Department of Correction.

         25                 Just so you know, I am a
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          2  whistle-blower. I have never formally gone to the

          3  Department of Investigation, because I don't trust

          4  them. The people I do trust are the union people

          5  here, Sidney Schwartzbaum, Pete Meringolo, and the

          6  media, and I use them extensively to get my point

          7  across. I'll continue to do so, and I'd like to just

          8  say a couple of words, if I could, after the other

          9  people are introduced.

         10                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I'm Dave Rosenzweig,

         11  past President of the Civil Service Merit Council in

         12  New York City.

         13                 MR. UNGAR: Robert Ungar, Legislative

         14  Counsel to the Civil Service Merit Council, and also

         15  Legislative Counsel to their Fire Alarm Dispatchers

         16  Benevolent Association in which Mr. Rosenzweig is

         17  President.

         18                 MR. MARTIN: I'm Dane Martin,

         19  President of the Caribbean Association in

         20  Correction, and in July will be promoted back to

         21  Assistant Deputy Warden.

         22                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Good morning, Madam

         23  Chair Clarke, and your staff. I'm Dave Rosenzweig,

         24  I'm the immediate past president of the Civil

         25  Service Merit Council.
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          2                 I have been involved for more than 25

          3  years in the Merit Council, and have served as

          4  president for more than 12 years.

          5                 The Merit Council's primary function

          6  is to monitor past and present administrations, and

          7  their compliance of the civil service law, including

          8  matters and mandates of the City Charter.

          9                 This includes keeping a watchful eye

         10  on all of the overall merit system established for

         11  the protection of public sector workers.

         12                 In the past 35 years, I have seen the

         13  Civil Service system and its protection for public

         14  sector workers deteriorate to a point that it no

         15  longer has very much to offer.

         16                 The failure of Public Sector

         17  Employees, Civil Service, is destroying the

         18  middle-income population of this great City.

         19                 Without middle-income workers, New

         20  York City cannot survive.

         21                 The Civil Service Merit System was

         22  established to protect both the citizens of this

         23  great City and its workers.

         24                 When the system fails to provide this

         25  protection, the quality of service is diminished and

                                                            75

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  the citizens of New York can no longer depend on the

          3  quality and efficiency of its workforce and the

          4  special services it provides on a continual basis.

          5                 This protection is called Civil

          6  Service exams. Established by law to guarantee a

          7  fair process by which City workers are appointed to

          8  establish competitive titles, in a fair and

          9  equitable way.

         10                 The exam is the process by which

         11  these appointments are to be made only, those

         12  applicants who score high on these exams will be

         13  appointed. This includes written, physical and also

         14  work experience and evaluations for promotion.

         15                 The applicant with the highest score

         16  goes to the top of the list. This is called the

         17  Civil Service List.

         18                 These lists guarantee that the

         19  citizens are getting the best qualified applicant

         20  for these positions. The list is your protection and

         21  it guarantees the quality of the City's workforce.

         22                 This Administration, along with past

         23  administrations, has systematically destroyed the

         24  built-in protection of the Civil Service system, and

         25  allowed it to deteriorate to the point that it can
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          2  no longer attract qualified applicants to enter into

          3  this system.

          4                 The system is failing to provide the

          5  guarantees offered to prior servants, civil

          6  servants, which includes promotion and advancement

          7  through merit and testing.

          8                 This failure precludes a meaningful

          9  future and stymies competitiveness, which is

         10  normally associated with civil service.

         11                 Broadbanding, which is really what

         12  we're talking about here, and also narrowbanding,

         13  which is a different type of banding, is an attack

         14  on the Civil Service System. It eliminates -- and

         15  it's "elements," it's spelled wrong in the document

         16  -- but eliminates competitiveness and allows for

         17  promotion without merit. It fails to promote

         18  candidates who are the best qualified through

         19  testing and performance evaluations.

         20                 It eliminates the testing process

         21  entirely, and allows for the non-competitive

         22  appointment of candidates who know someone, rather

         23  than what they know.

         24                 This allows less qualified candidates

         25  to be promoted ahead of better qualified candidates,
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          2  stymieing the civil service system entirely.

          3                 If this process is allowed to

          4  continue, relatives and friends will be running the

          5  City, doomed by incompetence and malfeasance.

          6                 I support this legislation in hopes

          7  that broadbanding and its policies that eliminate a

          8  fair competitive appointment system be stopped, and

          9  restoration of Civil Service Law and Merit, rather

         10  than cronyisms, nepotism and patronage. The citizens

         11  of New York deserve the best qualified candidate,

         12  not somebody's friend or relative.

         13                 Testing allows for the best qualified

         14  candidate to be appointed. Civil service has no

         15  future without testing.

         16                 And I'll be very brief. I apologize

         17  for elongating it a little bit. One of the issues

         18  that wasn't mentioned here is about cost.

         19                 Now, it's obvious in this particular

         20  situation and many, many titles, where you promote

         21  somebody into a position where they have a lot of

         22  authority and a lot of responsibility, they also

         23  need the knowledge that goes along with it, there

         24  are not that many people in the title. So, you would

         25  have to hold an exam, a perfect example is the Chief
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          2  of Department for the New York City Fire Department,

          3  the only time they have an exam, when there's a

          4  vacancy, there's only one Chief. So, naturally it

          5  costs a certain amount of money in order to make a

          6  Chief of Department, and it costs a certain amount

          7  of money to make a Warden. So, why make a Warden,

          8  Deputy Warden, when you can have an Assistant Deputy

          9  Warden and have somebody else do the job without the

         10  testing.

         11                 It's about cost. It's about basically

         12  the contempt for the civil servant that makes a

         13  personal commitment when he joins the system, 20, 35

         14  years ago, like myself, who were promised certain

         15  benefits, certain kinds of procedures that

         16  guaranteed them the opportunity to move forward and

         17  move ahead, and they've diminished that opportunity

         18  continuously.

         19                 And why do they do that? Because it

         20  has to do with authority. As long as they have the

         21  authority, as long as the civil service system

         22  doesn't guarantee and doesn't tenure people who pass

         23  exams and are promoted through the system, authority

         24  will have and will be misguided, so only those

         25  people that they want to select will be selected.
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          2                 It also gives preferential selection,

          3  which I think is one of the most dangerous aspects

          4  to this whole broadbanding situation.

          5                 It eliminates the best qualified

          6  people, and allows them to preferentially select

          7  individuals that may not even know the job.

          8                 The other thing is, there's no

          9  probation. So, when you get appointed to one of

         10  these broadbanded titles, you have no probation,

         11  you're not evaluated. Nobody is monitoring your

         12  performance in those titles. And this is one of the

         13  areas that are of great, great concern.

         14                 In regard for the analysis

         15  preparation for exams, which I heard them talk

         16  about, which I have written many exams for the City

         17  of New York. If you don't have anybody in the title,

         18  and it's not a competitive title, which it's not,

         19  you have nobody to ask in order to make a test, so

         20  you never make an analysis of that particular title.

         21  That has got to be the biggest bunch of baloney I've

         22  ever heard in my life, okay?

         23                 I mean, they should be embarrassed to

         24  say a thing like that. If you're not making a test,

         25  there's no analysis. If there's no analysis, who are
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          2  you asking? I mean, it's unbelievable.

          3                 The other thing that I think is just

          4  as important, probably more so important is about

          5  employees' rights and protection.

          6                 Those hard-working people that get

          7  promoted into these broadbanded titles because they

          8  do have the skills, don't have any protection, and

          9  as soon as they become a whistle-blower, or as they

         10  realize that the agency that they're working for is

         11  not complying with the law, or not delivering what

         12  it's supposed to be delivering, and they complain,

         13  or they grieve it through the regular normal

         14  process, guess what? They're demoted. They have no

         15  rights.

         16                 So, broadbanding eliminates employee

         17  rights, which is a very, very dangerous thing.

         18                 And my last point and I'll move

         19  forward, is in regard to minority advancement. I

         20  mean, I wasn't prepared to make a statement about

         21  that today until somebody brought it up.

         22                 I think the best, and the most

         23  important guarantee for all citizens of the City of

         24  New York, no matter what color or what religion they

         25  are or what language they speak, is that when you
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          2  have an equitable and fair system that evaluates

          3  your ability to do the job, that allows for all of

          4  us to move forward and to get the opportunities that

          5  we need.

          6                 When you eliminate that, then, yes,

          7  the process is selective. And depending on who is in

          8  charge, is depending on who gets appointed.

          9                 So, I commend you and this City

         10  Council and your Committee, for allowing this Intro.

         11  to go to move forward, and I am hopeful of its

         12  passage, and I know that it's going to have a very,

         13  very meaningful resolution to a situation that has

         14  long plagued civil service in New York City.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. GAVIN: Chairman Clarke, and

         17  distinguished Council members, I was promoted to the

         18  rank of Deputy Warden in January of 2000. Prior to

         19  be appointed to that, or broadbanded to that

         20  position, I had served as an Assistant Deputy

         21  Warden. I served for three years on the wheel, in

         22  two different Correctional facilities in Rikers

         23  Island, and I spent another year as the Executive

         24  Officer of the Health Services Division. So, it

         25  essentially took me four years to attain the rank of
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          2  Deputy Warden.

          3                 There are people that are Assistant

          4  Deputy Wardens going on nine, ten years that still

          5  haven't been promoted, so I consider myself one of

          6  the lucky ones.

          7                 But there are a lot of people that

          8  have been promoted before me who have essentially

          9  served no time in the rank of Assistant Deputy

         10  Warden in a Correctional facility, nor have they

         11  served their probationary period, which I think is

         12  patently outrageous, and it just creates a need, you

         13  know, even a greater impetus should be placed on

         14  promoting, having a Civil Service test to Deputy

         15  Warden, so that it can be, you know, a second level

         16  of testifying, if you will, because you can be

         17  catapulted from ADW to Chief of Department

         18  overnight, which has been the case.

         19                 So, I just want to say that briefly,

         20  but I just want to talk about three things: One, my

         21  formal talking points which I've written down; two,

         22  just a little bit to respond to Commissioner Hirst

         23  at DCAS, and three, some personal experience, and

         24  I'm going to take my gloves off, so be prepared.

         25                 Okay, my prepared statement. I
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          2  believe that a Civil Service examination for

          3  promotion to the rank of Deputy Warden is needed now

          4  more than ever.

          5                 Just take a look at all the

          6  corruption being uncovered in the Department of

          7  Correction today. Currently inexperienced political

          8  insiders are promoted to Deputy Warden above, based

          9  solely on who they know rather than what they know.

         10                 I also believe that an individual who

         11  has a civil service protected position is less

         12  likely to be influenced by politics and to engage in

         13  corrupt or questionable activity.

         14                 I recall studying for the promotional

         15  exams for Correction Captain and Correction Warden

         16  Level 1, also known as Assistant Deputy Warden. And

         17  like many of my colleagues, attending study groups

         18  and promotional seminars offered by the Department's

         19  fraternal organizations. This, ladies and gentlemen,

         20  is the best way to get promoted and to attain rank.

         21  Now-a-days those seeking promotion feel pressured to

         22  join political action groups and work on Mayoral and

         23  gubernatorial election campaigns in the hope that

         24  this will guarantee them a promotion.

         25                 This is simply wrong. It's wrong
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          2  because it has created a situation wherein those who

          3  are most qualified are not promoted.

          4                 These are typically the candidates

          5  with the most knowledge, talent and experience of

          6  the position.

          7                 Broadbanding, which is currently used

          8  by management to promote people above the rank of

          9  Assistant Deputy Warden creates dissention in the

         10  ranks. By promoting less experienced, unqualified

         11  individuals to supervisory positions, an atmosphere

         12  of distrust and cynicism is created, laying the

         13  foundation for abuse of power, and this is exactly

         14  what happened in the Department of Correction over

         15  the last several years.

         16                 The Civil Service test to the rank of

         17  Deputy Warden would create healthy competition, a

         18  level playing field and would ultimately result in

         19  the promotion of the most qualified candidate.

         20                 Many experienced and talented people

         21  have fled the agency, knowing they would never get

         22  promoted under the current system of broadbanding,

         23  and think about it, ladies and gentlemen, is this

         24  the road we want to continue on? I think not.

         25                 I urge you to reinstate the Civil
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          2  Service exam for promotion to Deputy Warden in the

          3  New York City Department of Correction.

          4                 And now it strikes me, it's almost

          5  funny, it's comical that the Commissioner from DCAS

          6  has left the room. I think it's disrespectful, as

          7  well, considering the fact that I came here out of

          8  retirement to address you. I would think that this

          9  woman, as the head of the agency, would want to hear

         10  what not only the union representatives have to say,

         11  but what citizens like myself have to say, and it's

         12  really, it's disgraceful to say the least.

         13                 But just take a look at the

         14  Commissioner herself. She's a mayoral appointee. I

         15  mean, it's probably a bloated agency, they just come

         16  in, they come out, they know nothing about the

         17  management of Rikers Island and the various borough

         18  jails and the court detention facilities and

         19  hospitals, which by the way is the largest municipal

         20  detention complex in the world.

         21                 I've never seen any of these people

         22  from DCAS come and visit the facilities, speak to

         23  Deputy Wardens and Wardens. You know, maybe they

         24  could call a couple of people down to DCAS

         25  headquarters, you know, that are in the rank, and
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          2  what ultimately winds up happening is they give the

          3  answers out anyway because the people leak it, but

          4  that's another issue.

          5                 But let's keep it real here. She

          6  talks about DCAS having all this expertise. I don't

          7  know where she gets her expertise. I don't know how

          8  long she's worked in City government or if she has

          9  any correctional expertise to speak of. So, I

         10  certainly would cast out on anything she has to say.

         11                 And then look at it this way, too.

         12  Don't you think it's a good idea that you have a

         13  test, another test, and get people to study more, to

         14  look at the books, to train more, to look at the new

         15  developments in correction law, penal law, criminal

         16  procedure law, minimum standards? That's a good

         17  thing, to keep people refreshed, to keep them sharp,

         18  to have them have that knowledge on their hands

         19  every single day and as they perform their duties in

         20  the Department of Correction. Basically you're given

         21  everybody a lay up. You take one test to Assistant

         22  Deputy Warden, and basically you get to lay up the

         23  rest of your career and you never have to be tested

         24  again.

         25                 Sidney spoke earlier about comparing
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          2  Assistant Deputy Warden, Deputy Warden and Warden to

          3  like a hospital setting. I just want to talk about

          4  that a little. Think of an Assistant Deputy Warden

          5  as an emergency room doctor. Think of a Deputy

          6  Warden as a Chief Surgeon, if you will, and think of

          7  a Warden as a Medical Director of the hospital. Now,

          8  when you compare that to a hospital, you know that

          9  going from emergency room doctor to chief physician

         10  and medical director, you have to take tests, you

         11  have to have more training under your belt, this,

         12  ladies and gentlemen, does not happen in the

         13  Department of Correction, and that's what I'm going

         14  to speak about next.

         15                 So, this is personal. I retired from

         16  the Department of Correction for one reason. There

         17  came a point in time when I was a Deputy Warden at

         18  the Mayor's Office of Emergency Management, having

         19  been in charge of anthrax detection, explosive

         20  detection and a million other things. I put in for

         21  the position of Warden. I put in to be considered

         22  for it. And I wouldn't mind if someone who was more

         23  qualified got promoted above me and by that I mean

         24  someone who has been in rank of Assistant Deputy

         25  Warden longer, you know, someone who has had more
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          2  time and rank than me, but that wasn't the case.

          3                 In one case there was an individual

          4  named Darryl Harrison who was a probationary

          5  Assistant Deputy Warden, who was serving as the

          6  Chief of Staff to then Commissioner Frazier. He was

          7  promoted on probation to Deputy Warden in Command,

          8  which basically pays $15,000 more than the salary I

          9  was currently making. Sidney Schwartzbaum took them

         10  to task and filed an unfair labor practice, but

         11  nothing ever came of it. So, how am I to feel when

         12  Assistant Deputy Warden Harrison, who got promoted

         13  to Assistant Deputy Warden by a Civil Service test

         14  four years after I did is now a Deputy Warden in

         15  Command earning $15,000 more than me. What are you

         16  telling me? And what are you telling the other

         17  people that put in for that Deputy Warden Command

         18  title.

         19                 If Commissioner Frazier wanted to

         20  leave Chief of Staff Harrison in that position, he

         21  could have done so. He didn't have to throw him a

         22  bone and give him a promotion, but that's what he

         23  did, and believe me, Councilwoman Clarke, that is

         24  what ticked a lot of people off.

         25                 The second reason, of course, is
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          2  Richard Palmer, another one of Frazier's cronies,

          3  who was a Deputy Warden in Command, who never served

          4  as an ADW in a correctional facility, if he did, for

          5  maybe three weeks.

          6                 This gentleman was promoted to

          7  Warden. Again, this man didn't score as highly on

          8  the test that I took in 1993, okay? He died on that

          9  list. He got promoted to Assistant Warden four years

         10  later. He's now a Warden and I'm a chump. No, no,

         11  no, not going to happen. I'm going to speak out. All

         12  of Mayor Bloomberg's money can't keep me quiet. I'm

         13  going to continue to investigate the corruption

         14  scandals, you know, the Chief Serra episodes, this

         15  promotion process, the fact that they don't promote

         16  people that are qualified. Not for myself, because I

         17  really don't care, I'm retired and I'm doing very

         18  well right now. But I think it's about time people

         19  stood up and took charge of what was going on.

         20                 I spoke out in October of 2002 with

         21  six months left to go. They wouldn't dare promote

         22  me, because they're afraid of me. I'm the reason

         23  that Marty Horn has his job right now. If I didn't

         24  come forward, if I wasn't the architect of

         25  unraveling and going to the press with all these
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          2  corruption scandals, Frazier would still be the

          3  Commissioner, and this would still be going on, and

          4  I'm not kidding, and it's pretty pathetic, don't you

          5  think?

          6                 I think it's time that you as the

          7  legislative body stood up and took notice of what

          8  people like me are doing. I'm going to continue to

          9  do it, believe me, this is just -- you know, often

         10  times I'd like to come to some of your other

         11  meetings but the job now has me traveling, but every

         12  chance I get, every opportunity I get, I'm going to

         13  speak to the media and I'm going to speak about

         14  inequities.

         15                 Let's face it, if you're not going to

         16  have a Civil Service test, at least wait your turn.

         17  At least go into the rank of Assistant Deputy Warden

         18  and perform your duties on probation, at least for a

         19  year. But that's not even the case.

         20                 You have all these super stars, you

         21  have chiefs right now in this Department, two and

         22  three-start chiefs, and God as my witness, have not,

         23  have not completed their probation one year in the

         24  rank of Assistant Deputy Warden in a Correctional

         25  facility. And that is a fact, okay? And if you do
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          2  your homework, you'll find out everything I say is

          3  true.

          4                 And last but not least, I told you I

          5  was going to keep it real, and I told you I was

          6  going to talk about the political side.

          7                 I was a commanding officer of TEAMS,

          8  which is an acronym of Total Efficiency

          9  Accountability and Management System. I got that

         10  position as a Deputy Warden.

         11                 Shortly thereafter when Commissioner

         12  Kerik left and Commissioner Frazier came on board,

         13  he asked me to take over a unit called HealthStat,

         14  which is a coordinated Citywide initiative to

         15  provide New York's uninsured children with health

         16  insurance. I'm proud to say we were the number one

         17  agency in the City.

         18                 But having said that, when I took the

         19  position from another gentleman who was already in

         20  command of the position, he was already at one rank

         21  greater than I, despite the fact that I was doing

         22  two jobs, TEAMS and HealthStat, but what really

         23  caught my eye, and there were rumors that this

         24  gentleman, and I'm not going to mention his name

         25  right now, was affiliated with Vito Fossella, a
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          2  republican on Staten Island, and that he had ties to

          3  this individual.

          4                 Now, my first official act as

          5  Commander of HealthState, I left the TEAMS Office

          6  and I went over to the HealthStat Office which was

          7  located at the west facility on Rikers Island, and

          8  low and behold, I walk into the office and what do I

          9  see on the bulletin board? Vito Fossella's picture,

         10  prominently displayed all over the office with boxes

         11  of campaign literature. What kind of a message do

         12  you think that sent me? Think about that.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you.

         15                 MR. MARTIN: Yes, Council Member

         16  Clarke, I want to thank you today for being able to

         17  testify and tell my story.

         18                 There's a lot that's been said here

         19  today, I believe I'm the last one so I'll try not to

         20  reiterate what's already been said.

         21                 I can tell you about my story and

         22  that's what I'm here to do. I am presently still a

         23  Captain in the Department of Correction, I have 18

         24  years, all of those has been spent behind what we

         25  call the cell, behind those walls. I have never had
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          2  an office job, so I can pretty much talk from

          3  experience.

          4                 Anyway, on June 10th I spoke out in a

          5  Newsday article about budget cuts which was going to

          6  affect Correction, I felt it was going to affect

          7  staff and inmate safety.

          8                 After doing that -- I need to back

          9  up, I need to back up to the beginning of the year.

         10                 The first thing I did was I had a

         11  meeting with Commissioner Frazier, and my concern at

         12  the time prior to speaking out on the article was, I

         13  can tell you exactly what my agenda was, it was

         14  promotional criteria and also criteria for preferred

         15  assignments, because I saw what was going on in the

         16  Department, and president of the Caribbean

         17  Association, I asked for a meeting, which I

         18  understand was granted.

         19                 Anyway, while in his office and

         20  asking those questions, the response to me was "I

         21  promote who is loyal to me." When he said that to

         22  me, I didn't feel there was any other reason for me

         23  to carry on with my meetings. I said, well, thank

         24  you, Commissioner. I want to thank you for this

         25  meeting, but I don't think there's any reason for us
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          2  to carry on in this meeting, you've said it all in

          3  that one statement.

          4                 Anyway, I returned to my facility

          5  which is the adolescent reception facility, at the

          6  time I was an Assistant Deputy Warden, when I got

          7  back, I was given, it was not formal discipline, it

          8  was a warning, but written by the Security Deputy

          9  Warden, and I said what is this for? You're

         10  disciplining me for something where it's not

         11  warranted, this is not fair.

         12                 He said to me, don't worry about

         13  this, we're going to keep this under the desk. This

         14  is my first day back to work. And he said this is

         15  not coming from me, this is coming from the top. I

         16  said no problem. I went on, then we got to May where

         17  a reporter called me and being concerned that no one

         18  else was speaking about these cuts I felt myself and

         19  another Latino officer association president, we

         20  spoke on these cuts. Anyway, I had already received

         21  by three evaluations, which is what you're given on

         22  probation. I did not receive anything less than a B.

         23                 I was given a fourth evaluation,

         24  which is illegal, and all of a sudden my grade

         25  plummeted to all D's by all the same previous Deputy
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          2  Warden who rated me.

          3                 I was called into the office by the

          4  Deputy Warden of Administration, and I was told to

          5  sign this. I said, sign what? He said, you're being

          6  extended six months, and I said I don't see the

          7  reason for that, I'm not going to sign it. At the

          8  time I called for my representation, the union rep

          9  within the facility, he came in, a gentleman by the

         10  name of Nate Andrews, and we started having a

         11  discussion with this Deputy Warden of why was he

         12  doing that? He again repeated what the Deputy Warden

         13  of Security said, this is coming from the top, this

         14  is not me, okay?

         15                 I'm saying all this, anyway I went

         16  on, I was demoted. I was the only Deputy Warden, I

         17  mean no one -- I've spoke to Sidney, I've spoke to

         18  Pete Meringolo, the Captain, no one can ever recall,

         19  like he said, he has 32 years, of anyone in my

         20  position ever being demoted over a count. I do not

         21  count bodies, okay? There's another rank, Captain

         22  and an officers. Officers actually takes the count

         23  of these inmates. If they fail to count correctly, I

         24  normally tell the Captain to discipline whoever

         25  messed up that count, I was held accountable and
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          2  subsequently demoted.

          3                 I, like I said, was demoted. They

          4  sent me to what they call C95. C95 Anna M. Cross

          5  Center. Anyway that's known as so-called the worst

          6  facility on Rikers Island, so not only they demoted

          7  me but they still felt they were punishing me.

          8                 I went there, did not argue, because

          9  I know in my heart that I would win, because what

         10  they did was illegal.

         11                 I know I could not win under

         12  Commissioner Frazier. I know it could not happen. So

         13  I had to wait for either a new Commissioner or just

         14  for him to leave. That's the bottom line. There was

         15  no way I was going back to my position, because I

         16  knew this came directly from him, okay?

         17                 I just want to say another thing,

         18  okay? I'm still behind the gates, okay? And the

         19  morale, I know you read a lot about Correction

         20  today, and I told some folks that I was coming here

         21  to testify, officers, because I have a very good

         22  rapport with the officers, very good rapport. I have

         23  a lot of supporters.

         24                 Just to give you an example, when I

         25  initiated my lawsuit, the officers raised $10,000
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          2  for me to initiate my lawsuit. Okay, I always

          3  considered myself someone fair but firm, and that's

          4  all people are asking for, in the Department of

          5  Correction. Okay, and I did tell them I was coming

          6  here to testify and I told them on what, and let me

          7  tell you something, just on the response that I got,

          8  as far as this test being, that is needed in this

          9  Department -- I want you to understand something,

         10  there's one thing I believe that was not touched on,

         11  and I can understand being from a union perspective,

         12  some of these people are still members, I can touch

         13  on this then, because, as I said, Commissioner

         14  Frazier left, these appointees are still there. I

         15  want you to understand something, they are still

         16  there, okay? I do not know much about the new

         17  Commissioner, I hear he's a fair person. But

         18  understand that this was the one time, just like was

         19  said, this Commissioner seems to have a lifespan of

         20  two, maybe three years, these people are still in

         21  place and they were appointed, appointed, and most

         22  of us in the Department know they were appointed

         23  because they were a part of the team, as they like

         24  to say in the Department.

         25                 So, this thing, because we have a new
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          2  Commissioner, can go back. And I don't think it has

          3  changed, but I think everyone is walking very

          4  lightly now, I want you to understand, because the

          5  rumor is this Commissioner did not owe anyone

          6  anything.

          7                 Okay, there are people still in this

          8  Department that were not held accountable that was

          9  at high level position when this corruption scandal

         10  broke. They're still there. So, imagine, if you're a

         11  Correction Officer behind these walls, and you're

         12  looking at this and saying, okay, we got a new

         13  Commissioner, but these are the people that is

         14  directly speaking to us on roll call, they're the

         15  one that's coming in whenever an incident happens,

         16  and they're the one that's sending these rules and

         17  regulations down to us. They're still in place. So,

         18  the fear and retaliation is still in these people's

         19  minds. They don't feel because we got a new

         20  Commissioner everything is okay. I want to make that

         21  clear, okay? And this is the one time, you know, we

         22  always hear the thing when you could cut the head

         23  off and everything. No, this is not that situation.

         24  This is not that situation.

         25                 And I might be, someone said to me
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          2  the other day, I think you're the only to be Captain

          3  twice and Assistant Deputy Warden twice, and I said

          4  to them, well, you know what? If I become Captain

          5  three times, I will be proud to hold that title,

          6  because of the fact that I know what I'm speaking

          7  out on or what I'm saying is the right thing to do.

          8                 I did not speak out for David Martin,

          9  I spoke out for Correctional staff, on budget cuts,

         10  a year later they're losing their jobs. All of a

         11  sudden folks are looking at me like I'm some kind of

         12  here - no. And I told them, if you wait, there's a

         13  saying that says, "if the battles you fight are only

         14  your own, you will always fight alone." And that's

         15  what I was trying to send the message to them.

         16                 And there's no guarantee I might not

         17  be demoted again, okay? But it's okay, if I'm doing

         18  what I know I need to do, because people's rights

         19  are being violated every day in the Department of

         20  Correction, and I wish the Commissioner was here to

         21  hear me. I did not request a meeting with him prior

         22  because I did not want to get the issues mixed up. I

         23  wanted to win my case first and then go to speak to

         24  him about what's going on in the Department. I will

         25  request that meeting now, since my case was settled,
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          2  just settled, okay?

          3                 But I just wanted to come from a

          4  personal point of view and speaking for people,

          5  because that's what I did. A lot of folks are

          6  fighting personal battles. This was not a personal

          7  battle that I fought. I spoke out on budget cuts,

          8  okay?

          9                 So, that's all I can say. I just want

         10  you to understand that the morale is very low, very,

         11  very low, all the folks you see in place was

         12  appointed on the last two administration, there

         13  might be one or two exceptions that has that 30 plus

         14  years, but nothing has changed. Just today what I

         15  said, if this gets back, I will be targeted, I want

         16  you to understand. But that's okay, too, all right?

         17                 That's the atmosphere in the

         18  Department of Correction and I just want to make

         19  that clear to you, and why I'm here to testify why

         20  there have to be a test, it does test your

         21  knowledge. When I went from Captain to ADW, I said

         22  you know what? I have to start thinking like an ADW

         23  now. So when I pulled out those rules and regs and

         24  that paperwork, I said to myself, I'm not a Captain

         25  anymore, think like an ADW. There's nothing in place
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          2  to say I'm going to DW from ADW. There's nothing in

          3  place. It's who you know. And as long as you know

          4  those people and they're promoting you, they will

          5  protect you until you do something that they don't

          6  like, okay?

          7                 So, I want you to understand that's

          8  what it is. So, a test is good. Some of us, he's

          9  right, do not go back in those books, okay? A test

         10  is good and that's all I want to say. I want to

         11  thank you for this time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         13  all of you for testifying today.

         14                 We will be following up, particularly

         15  with the issues around the legality of putting forth

         16  this legislation. I will be instructing Council to

         17  look at the law as referred to by Bob Ungar to see

         18  what can be done from a legislative perspective, to

         19  push this forward.

         20                 I will also be talking with the rest

         21  of my colleagues to make sure that they're fully

         22  aware and abreast of this issue, and in all

         23  likelihood, I will be touching base with the

         24  Commissioner to make sure that he is aware and

         25  receives a transcript of today's hearing. I think
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          2  that that is critical for the development of the

          3  Department.

          4                 The Department itself is going

          5  through some major issues in terms of determining

          6  whether it will be merged with the Department of

          7  Probation, which may again impact on a number of the

          8  issues that have not come to a head, and I believe

          9  that the issues of the cronyism, of some of the --

         10  and I'm going to call it what it is, and it's very

         11  apparent based on all that has come to light that

         12  there are some really systemic changes that need to

         13  take place within the Department of Correction, and

         14  I think that Commissioner Horn is trying to get

         15  ahead of the curve, but when a culture becomes

         16  ingrained over a decade, it becomes, you have to

         17  sort of dig even beyond the ten years to uproot the

         18  things that actually have caused the rotting of the

         19  agency, and to renew it so that it can perform to

         20  its best ability, utilizing a very dedicated --

         21  there's no doubt in my mind that the majority of

         22  people working in Corrections are committed and

         23  dedicated to what they're doing, putting their lives

         24  on the line and being committed working overtime and

         25  all of those other things.
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          2                 So, I want to assure everyone who is

          3  in attendance today that this is an issue that will

          4  be followed up on and that as we move forward in

          5  getting the appropriate answers for developing the

          6  legislation and putting it forth through the

          7  Council, that is the intent of this Chair.

          8                 Again, I want to thank you all for

          9  coming today, and wish you all well.

         10                 MR. MARTIN: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         12  much. This meeting is adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 12:25 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the
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